0/2 6-2-87.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THOMAS B. FERRIS

Respondent, Petitioner,

V.

Case No. 69,561

RALPH D. TURLINGTON,
as the Commissioner of Education,

Petitoner, Respondent.

Petitoner, Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

John J. Chamblee, Jr. Chamblee & Miles 202 Cardy St. Tampa, Florida 33606 (813) 251-4542 Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Effective April 16, 1984, the Petitioner, THOMAS B. FERRIS, hereinafter referred to as the Petitioner, was suspended from his duties without pay by the School Board of Hernando County ("School Board"). The Petitioner was notified of such action by letter dated April 19, 1984, and, by letter dated April 30, 1984, he requested that a formal hearing be conducted upon the charges brought against him. On or about May 25, 1984, the School Board issued a pleading entitled "Notices and Charges", seeking to terminate the Petitioner from his employment based upon allegations of sexual battery involving a minor student.

On or about June 2, 1984, the Petitioner filed a "Demand For Hearing, Response To Charge, Demand For Statement of Particulars And Request For Appointment Of Hearing Officer", in which Petitioner denied the allegations set forth in the School Board complaint. Futhermore, Petitioner demanded, in accordance with \$231.36, Fla. Stat., the payment of full back pay and benefits as well as reinstatement to his employment with the School Board of Hernando County on continuing contract.

The Respondent, RALPH D. TURLINGTON, Commissioner of Education, hereinafter referred to as the Respondent, filed an Administrative Complaint on July 5, 1984. The Complaint was based upon the same instances of alleged sexual misconduct which formed the basis for the School Board charges. The Respondent

sought to take disciplinary action, including revocation of the Petitioner's teaching certificate, as a penalty for such alleged misconduct.

The Petitioner filed a responsive pleading to such complaint in which he denied the operative assertions of the complaint and raised affirmative defenses.

The issues in the then pending matters were referred to a hearing officer appointed by the Division of Administrative Hearings, who scheduled a hearing to be conducted pursuant to the provisions of \$120.57(1), Fla. Stat. A stipulation for consolidation of the two proceedings before the Division of Administrative Hearings was filed in which the Hearing Officer was requested to issue two orders: one directed to the issues addressed in the charging instrument filed by the School Board and another directed to the issues addressed in the complaint filed by the Commissioner of Education. An administrative hearing concerning the consolidated cases was conducted on November 28th and 29th, and on December 21, 1984, where one record and body of evidence was established for both matters.

On January 30, 1985, the Hearing Officer issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Order. He concluded, inter alia, that based of the evidence of record, the allegations of misconduct against the Petitioner were not supported by the weight of the evidence, and that the Petitioner had no sexual contact with the alleged victim. He, accordingly, issued two recommended Orders, one recommending that the charges filed by

the School Board be dismissed and the other recommending that the charges filed by the Respondent be dismissed.

The Commissioner of Education filed exceptions to the Recommended Order on the basis, inter alia, that the Hearing Officer had required corroboration of the student's testimony regarding the claimed sexual assault and on the basis that he had misapplied the standard of proof. On April 18, 1985, the Education Practices Commission considered such exceptions, expressly rejected them at page 1 of the Order, and voted to adopt and approve the report and recommended order of the Hearing Officer and by Order dated May 7, 1985, accordingly dismissed the Administrative Complaint against the Petitioner as filed by the Respondent. See Appendix, Exhibit A, page 1.

On April 30, 1985, the School Board elected to reverse the decision of the Hearing Officer, rejected his recommendation and permanently dismissed the Appellant from his employment with the school system of Hernando County, issuing a final order to that effect.

On April 24, 1986, the Fifth District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida issued an Opinion in which the decision of the School Board was reversed. A true and correct copy of that decision is included within the Appendix filed herewith and labeled Exhibit "B". The Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly concluded that the Hearing Officer in his report had properly resolved issues of credibility and had properly applied the burden of proof, both as to quantity of evidence and

corroboration of testimony, rejecting claims on appeal that the report should be construed otherwise.

On October 2, 1986, the First District Court of Appeal, which had by then received and expressly acknowledged the prior Opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, issued an Opinion finding that the Hearing Officer had failed to properly apply the burden of proof test as to quantity of evidence to sustain a license revocation and as to the corroboration of testimony. A true and correct copy of the Opinion of the District Court of Appeal for the First District is included within the Appendix filed herewith and labeled Exhibit "C". It is from this Opinion and order that this appeal is taken.

On October, 31, 1986, the Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in the District Court of Appeal for the First District, stating that this Court jurisdiction lies in this Court under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

II SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION AS TO THE MEANING AND EFFECT OF THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING OFFICER.

In the Opinion issued by the First District Court of Appeal from which this appeal is taken, the court determined that the hearing officer, below, was in error in that his recommendation was based upon two incorrect interpretations of the law:

that a minor victim's testimony must be corroborated in order to find that a teacher engaged in sexual misconduct, and that the standard of proof, under the circumstances of

this case, is greater than preponderance of the evidence.

In reaching this conclusion, the District Court wholly ignored the fact that this same issue, that is whether the hearing officer's recommendation should be interpreted in such a way as to presume these claimed errors, was raised and resolved by the agency which was responsible for reviewing and approving the hearing officer's recommended order, the Education Practices Commission, which adopted the order upon a determination that these objections were without merit. In ignoring the function and decision of the Education Practices Commission on what was essentially a question of fact and not of law, the District Court erroneously substituted its judgment for that of the agency and violated its obligations on review.

B. IT IS CLEAR FROM THE FACE OF THE HEARING OFFICER'S RECOMMENDED ORDER, ADOPTED BY THE EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION, THAT HE DID NOT BASE HIS FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS OR RECOMMENDATION UPON A VIEW THAT A MINOR VICTIM'S TESTIMONY MUST BE CORROBORATED IN ORDER TO SUSTAIN A FINDING OF SEXUAL MISCONDUCT.

The First District Court of Appeal found that the Hearing Officer had erred in requiring that the testimony of the minor in the case "must be corroborated in order to find that a teacher had engaged in sexual misconduct." The Hearing Officer's recommended order does not contain such a statement nor does such a defect appear expressly or by implication from a fair reading of the recommended order.

C. THE HEARING OFFICER'S RECOMMENDED ORDER, AS ADOPTED BY THE EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION, STATES THAT THE CASE AGAINST THE PETITIONER WAS NOT SUSTAINED UNDER ANY STANDARD OF PROOF, AS ADOPTED BY THE COURTS.

The First District Court of Appeal, in its opinion below, directs that the case be remanded to the Hearing Officer who, it claimed, failed to apply the preponderance of evidence standard to determine whether the Respondent sustained its case in seeking to revoke the Petitioner's teaching certificate. The Hearing Officer clearly stated in his recommended order that the case against the Petitioner was not sustained by the evidence, regardless of which standard of proof was employed, whether it be the "clear and convincing" evidence standard, the First District Court's own <u>Bowling</u> standard, or the preponderance of evidence standard.

- D. THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF PROOF IN A LICENSE REVOCATION CASE, THE POTENTIAL RESULT OF WHICH IS TO EXTINGUISH THE PROFESSIONAL CAREER OF A PUBLIC SCHOOL TEACHER, IS THE BOWLING OR THE "CLEAR AND CONVINCING" STANDARD, AND NOT "PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE."
- 1. From the legislative history of the Administrative Procedures Act, it is clear that there is nothing which suggests that the courts should recede from the "clear and convincing" evidence test which was the pre-Act standard of proof in license revocation cases at the hearing level, as expressed by the Second District Court of Appeal in Reid v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 188 So.2d 846 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966).

The Second District has not receded from that decision and the Third District Court of appeal has similarly applied the Reid clear and convincing proof test in licensing revocation cases.

Accord, Pearl v. Florida Board of Real Estate, 394 So.2d 189 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Cf, Sneij v. Department of Professional Regulation, 454 So.2d 795 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984).

The First District Court of Appeal in <u>Bowling v. Department</u> of <u>Insurance</u>, 394 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), adopted a sliding scale standard attaching to the term "substantial" in the substantial competent evidence test, to replace the <u>Reid</u> standard post-APA, which has been broadly interpeted to require, in license revocation cases, more rigorous proof than preponderance of the evidence. Id at 171, 172; <u>Purvis v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 464 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Cf, <u>Harvey v. Division of Alcoholic Beverages</u>, 451 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

2. The standard of proof that applies in arbitration of cases involving teacher discharge, which may arise out of the same facts as are the subject of an administrative proceeding, is generally the "clear and convincing" evidence test.

III ARGUMENT

A. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION AS TO THE MEANING AND EFFECT OF THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING OFFICER.

The Hearing Officer concluded in his recommended order that, based on the evidence of record, the allegations of misconduct brought against Petitioner were not supported by the weight of the evidence, and that Petitioner had no sexual contact with the student as alleged during either August or October, 1983, or at any other time. (Par. 13 of the Hearing Officer's Findings of

Fact). Based on these conclusions, the Hearing Officer recommended that the Administrative Complaint filed by the Education Pratices Commission should be dismissed. The Hearing Officer's Recommended Order was adopted in its entirety by the Education Practices Commission after express consideration of the very issues which were later stated by the District Court as the basis for remanding the E.P.C.'s decision.

Fla. Stat. \$120.57(1)(b)(9) provides as follows:

The agency may adopt the recommended order as the final order of the agency. The agency in its final order may reject or modify the conclusions of law and interpretation of administrative rules in the recommended order, but may not reject or modify the findings of fact unless the agency first determines from a review of the complete record, and states with particularity in the order, that the findings of fact were not based upon competent and substantial evidence or that the proceedings on which the findings were based did not comply with the essential requirements of law. The agency may accept or reduce the recommended penalty in the recommended order, but may not increase it without a review of the complete record.

The Hearing Officer clearly enumerated his finding of facts in paragraphs 1 through 13 of his recommended order. In Florida, the law is well-established that findings of fact made by a Hearing Officer cannot be modified or set aside by the agency responsible for final action unless such findings were not based upon competent, substantial evidence or the proceeding on which the findings were based did not comply with the essential requirements of law. Likewise, this Court is precluded from re-weighing the evidence or substituting its judgment for that

the agency whose order is under review. Fla. Stat. \$120.68 (10) provides as follows:

If the agency's action depends on any fact found by the agency in a proceeding meeting the requirements of s. 120.57 of the act, the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on any disputed finding of fact. The court shall, however, set aside agency action or remand the case to the agency if it finds that the agency's action depends on any finding of fact that is not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record.

Under \$120.68(9), the court may set aside, modify or remand an agency order if it finds that the agency "has erroneously interpreted a provision of law..." Under subsection (12), the court shall remand the case if it finds the agency's exercise of discretion to be:

- (a) Outside the range of discretion delegated to the agency by law;
- (b) Inconsistent with an agency rule;
- (c) Inconsistent with an officially stated agency policy or prior agency practice, if deviation therefrom is not explained by the agency; or
- (d) Otherwise in violation of a constitutional or statutory provision;

but the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency on an issue of discretion.

In the opinion issued by the First District, below, it is acknowledged that the E.P.C. adopted the recommended order of the Hearing Officer, but in accepting the assertion on appeal by the Commissioner of Education that the Hearing Officer's report contained the claimed defects, no consideration whatever was given by the court to the fact that the same exceptions had been raised before the E.P.C. and rejected.

For the purpose of the District Court's review of the E.P.C. order, it was required to give effect to its determinations of fact and judgments unless clearly not supported by the record or the law. See, City of Lake Wales v. PERC, 402 So.2d 1224 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981) (the district court is not permitted to change the outcome of agency action unless it is not supported by substantial competent evidence or is legally insufficient); Manatee County v. PERC, 387 So.2d 446, 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (the district court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency). Insofar as the E.P.C. satisfied itself from a review of the Hearing Officer's recommended order that it could not be interpeted so as to assume the errors suggested by the Commissioner in its exceptions, that decision should not have been disturbed by the District Court.

Indeed, the issue resolved by the E.P.C. as to the content of the Hearing Officer's recommended order was essentially one of fact. An analogy of this principle can be found in the case of McDonald vs. Department of Banking and Finance, 346 So. 2d 569 (1 D.C.A. 1975). Petitioners were denied authority from the Department of Banking and Finance, Division of Banking, to organize and operate a bank even though the Hearing Officer, conducting an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Fla. Stat. \$120.57(1)(b)(9), made detailed findings of fact tending to show that the petitioners satisfied the statutory requirements for the granting of such banking authority.

Much of the decision discusses the apparent inconsistent standard of review mandated by Fla. Stat. §120.57, which

required the Department to honor the Hearing Officer's findings of fact unless "not based upon competent substantial evidence", and Fla. Stat. 120.68(10), which required the reviewing court to sustain the Department's findings of fact if supported by substantial, competent evidence. The Court adopted the standard of review approved in NLRB vs. Universal Camera, 179 F.2d 749 (2nd Cir. 1950), and held that finding "substantial evidence" must be done by considering the whole record, including the Hearing Officer's findings.

In Leapley v. Board of Regents, Fla. State Univ. Sys., 423 So.2d 431 (1st D.C.A. 1982), the First District Court of Appeal was again faced with the question of whether or not the agency had properly substituted its own findings of fact for those of the Hearing Officer. A university employee brought an unfair labor practice charge against the university. She pursued a grievance, but was advised she could not use that procedure because she was not deemed to be a member of the relevant bargaining unit, the United Faculty of Florida ("UFF"). disagreed and an evidentiary hearing was conducted pursuant to Fla. Stat. §120.57. The Hearing Officer concluded she was within the UFF's bargaining unit; however, the agency, PERC, disagreed and dismissed her unfair labor pratice charge against the university. Relying on McDonald, supra, the Court reversed, concluding that the issue of whether Leapley was a member of one bargaining unit or another was "essentially a factual determination based upon the circumstances of the case". 423 So. 2d 432. The Hearing Officer's finding should control to the extent that issue was "simply the weight or credibility of testimony by witnesses", or was determinable "by ordinary methods of proof," or was in a factual realm concerning which "the agency may not rightfully claim special insight." On the other hand, the agency's determination is conclusive where the ultimate facts are increasingly matters of opinion and opinions are increasingly infused by policy considerations for which the agency has special responsibility. Id.

In this case, the issue on which the District Court's decision ultimately turned, was the construction of the Hearing Officer's report itself. Surely, whether it appeared to contain a reference to the erroneous matters as claimed by the Commissioner in his exceptions (as distinguished from deciding the merits of the legal quandries created if the claimed errors were found) could be resolved by the E.P.C. in its review of the face of the recommended order. Thus, it was argued before the Education Practices Commission, which had the report before it, that the Hearing Officer erroneously determined that corroboration of a student's testimony was necessary in a claim of sexual assault and that he had also applied an unduly stringent standard of proof. The agency, the E.P.C., whose role it was to review under the standards stated above the Hearing Officer's recommendation, considered the order and found those claims to be without merit and expressly rejected them. Whether viewed as a finding of fact or a matter of judgment, the decision of the E.P.C. that the Hearing Officer's report should not be read so as to presume the errors claimed by the Commissioner of Education is not clearly

erroneous, incorrect as a matter of law, or without support on the record, i.e., from the face of the recommended order itself.

B. IT IS CLEAR FROM THE FACE OF THE HEARING OFFICER'S RECOMMENDED ORDER, ADOPTED BY THE EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION, THAT HE DID NOT BASE HIS FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS, OR RECOMMENDATION UPON A VIEW THAT A MINOR VICTIM'S TESTIMONY MUST BE CORROBORATED IN ORDER TO SUSTAIN A FINDING OF SEXUAL MISCONDUCT.

The District Court opinion asserts that the Hearing Officer concluded that corroboration was necessary as a matter of law in order to prove the charges against the Petitioner. Apparently, this argument is based soley on the statement by the Hearing Officer in paragraph 16 of the findings of fact:

In order to make the findings of fact set forth in paragraphs 1-13 above, it is not essential that this testimony of the minor be rejected as false. There simply is not sufficient evidence in this record to corroborate the minor's testimony.

The Hearing Officer did not thereby state that corroboration is necessary as a matter of law in order to find that the allegations of sexual battery are true. Rather, "in this record" there was insufficient evidence, including the absence of corroboration, in order to make a factual finding that the minor's testimony was true. Nowhere does the Hearing Officer purport to set out such a sweeping standard which would require direct eye witness corroboration in every case in which there is only one witness to alleged sexual misconduct. Rather, the Recommended Order was based on a weighing of the evidence and on determining the credibility of the witnesses. The Hearing Officer states on paragraph 17 of the findings of fact that

"(b) ased upon the failure of the <u>weight</u> of the evidence to support a factual finding that these allegations (of misconduct) are true, this testimony is not relevant."

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