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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal appropriately remanded this case to the Education Practices Commission for remand to the Hearing Officer, pursuant to Section 120.68(9)(b), Florida Statutes, based upon its finding that the Hearing Officer had erroneously interpreted two provisions of law. The only reasonable interpretation of the Hearing Officer's language, and that which was adopted by the First District Court of Appeal, found that the Hearing Officer based his dismissal of the charges against Petitioner upon his erroneous interpretation that a minor victim's testimony must be corroborated in order to find that a teacher engaged in sexual misconduct and that the standard of proof, under the circumstances of this case, is greater than a preponderance of the evidence.

There is no statutory or case law which requires corroboration of a minor victim's testimony in order to find that a teacher engaged in sexual misconduct. Such a corroboration requirement would place an impossible burden of proof upon the state agency in cases such as this where there is no physical evidence available and the essential element of proof would rest on the luck or chance of a third party happening upon the incident.



The First District Court of Appeal has appropriately adopted a "preponderance of evidence" standard for license disciplinary cases. Such a standard of proof is appropriate in license disciplinary cases because of the balancing of interests between the governmental interest in protecting the health safety and welfare of the citizens of the state through regulation of professionals and the due process protection afforded a licensee in the property interest of his license.

The "preponderance of evidence" standard is also supported by the minimum due process requirements enunciated in and applied to all administrative proceedings in the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). Adoption of the APA negated the need for an elevated standard of proof to ensure that all license disciplinary cases are conducted pursuant to minimum due process requirements.

Based upon the aforesaid factors the First District Court of Appeal appropriately remanded this case, pursuant to Section 120.68(9), Florida Statutes so that the evidence could be evaluated under the appropriate standard of proof and with the understanding that no corroboration of the minor victim's testimony was necessarily required.

## ARGUMENT

### I

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
APPROPRIATELY REMANDED THIS CASE TO THE  
EDUCATION PRACTICES COMMISSION FOR  
REMAND TO THE HEARING OFFICER, PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 120.68(9), FLORIDA STATUTES.

The Petitioner, in his brief, seeks reversal of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in part on the basis of an assertion that the court substituted its own findings of fact and judgement for that of the Hearing Officer. (Petitioner's Brief, page 7)

Contrary to that assertion, the court remanded the case to the Education Practices Commission for remand to the Hearing Officer in order that the testimony of the witnesses and the consideration of the evidence might be evaluated under a correct interpretation of the provisions of law. Turlington v. Ferris, 496 So.2d 177, 178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) The court ordered the remand because it found that the Hearing Officer had erroneously interpreted two provisions of law: "that a minor victim's testimony must be corroborated in order to find that a teacher engaged in sexual misconduct, and that the standard of proof, under the circumstances of this case, is greater than a preponderance of the evidence." Ferris, supra at 178

Section 120.68(9), Florida Statutes, provides:

(9) If the court finds that the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and that a correct interpretation compels a particular action, it shall:

(a) Set aside or modify the agency action,  
or

(b) Remand the case to the agency for  
further action under a correct  
interpretation of the provision of law.

The District Court of Appeal in the instant case therefore, simply and correctly found that the Hearing Officer had erroneously interpreted the controlling law. The court specifically found only that corroboration was not a requirement of the proof in this case and that it was improper to place a burden greater than the preponderance of the evidence on the Commissioner. The District Court of Appeal did not, as Petitioner suggests, substitute its findings of fact or judgement for that of the Hearing Officer. Nothing in the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal would suggest such a conclusion. Therefore, the court appropriately remanded the case pursuant to the provisions of Section 120.68(9)(b), Florida Statutes.

Petitioner would have this Court find that the Education Practices Commission's interpretation of the Hearing Officer's Recommended Order was a "finding of fact" and was supported by competent substantial evidence in the record. (Petitioner's Brief, page 10.) Further, Petitioner would have this Court find that the First District Court of Appeal could not substitute its judgement for that of the Commission's since the Commission's "findings" were based on competent substantial evidence. (Petitioner's Brief, page 8)

However, Petitioner's argument must fail in two respects. First, to prevent a reviewing court from addressing an erroneous interpretation of law simply by classifying the agency's erroneous interpretation of the Hearing Officer's language as a "finding of fact" is to circumvent the express statutory guidelines of Section 120.68(9)(b), Florida Statutes, which allows the court to remand the case to the agency where the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law. Petitioner cites Leapley v. Board of Regents, Florida State University System, 423 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) in support of the aforesaid argument. In Leapley, a university employee attempted to pursue a grievance proceeding against the university but was advised she could not utilize this proceeding because she was not deemed a member of the applicable bargaining unit. The Hearing Officer found that the employee was a member of the bargaining unit, however PERC subsequently dismissed the employee's grievance, holding that she was not a member of the bargaining unit. Id. at 432. The court reversed, holding that the issue of whether Leapley was a member of the bargaining unit was "essentially a factual determination based upon the circumstances of the case." Leapley, supra at 432.

Inclusion in a bargaining unit is a factual issue which can be proven by testimony and documentary evidence establishing the criteria of the membership under the terms of the contract or agreement and the job description of the

affected employee bringing her under the criteria of the bargaining unit. Such a "factual issue" is determined by the credibility and weight attributed to the evidence and is distinguishable from the instant case where the Commission's interpretation of the Hearing Officer's Recommended Order was not based upon the credibility and weight of differing interpretations of the Hearing Officer's Order or upon any testimony regarding the Hearing Officer's thoughts and rational in writing his Order.

Secondly, Petitioner has asserted that Respondent argued that the Hearing Officer inappropriately required corroboration of the minor victim's testimony and a higher standard of proof than "preponderance of evidence" when Respondent filed his exceptions to the Hearing Officer's Recommended Order. (Petitioner's brief, page 9) Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, however, the only exceptions filed by Respondent concerned the Hearing Officer's failure to recognize the corroborative evidence presented by Respondent and the Hearing Officer's erroneous use of a "quantitative" as opposed to a "qualitative" standard in reviewing the evidence. (Respondent's Appendix, page 2 and 7) Since the Commission did not address the issue of the erroneous interpretations of law subsequently cited by the First District Court of Appeal, it could not have made a "finding of fact" regarding these legal issues. Therefore, the First District Court of Appeal appropriately remanded this case pursuant to Section 120.68(9), Florida Statutes.

II

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT NO CORROBORATION OF THE MINOR VICTIM'S TESTIMONY IS REQUIRED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING IN ORDER TO FIND THAT A TEACHER ENGAGED IN SEXUAL MISCONDUCT.

The Hearing Officer's first erroneous interpretation of law was to conclude that a minor victim's testimony must be corroborated in order to find that a teacher engaged in sexual misconduct. Specifically the Hearing Officer found, and the Commissioner adopted the finding, that:

16. In order to make the findings of fact set forth in paragraphs 1-13 above, it is not essential that this testimony of the minor be rejected as false. There simply is not sufficient evidence in this record to corroborate the minor's testimony.

(Petitioner's Appendix, Exhibit A, page 10)

The above language indicates that the Hearing Officer did not go through the process of weighing the credibility of the minor against that of the teacher; he merely dismissed the testimony of the minor as uncorroborated regardless of its truth or falsity and eliminated consideration of the testimony necessary to support the Commissioner's case.

It is not, however, necessary to have corroborative evidence that a sexual battery has occurred. Neither Chapter 120, Florida Statutes nor Rule 22I, F.A.C., the provisions governing administrative hearings, make any requirement for corroboration of a victim's testimony to sustain a sexual battery charge.

Section 794.022, Florida Statutes, does provide some guidelines and with regard to proof of criminal sexual battery, and provides in part: "The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in a prosecution under s. 794.011." It is a well-established principle of law that criminal cases require a higher standard of proof, that of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, than that which is required in administrative cases. See The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d. 594 (Fla. 1970) It is illogical to require corroboration of the victim's testimony and, therefore, a higher standard of proof in administrative cases than in the criminal cases where no corroboration is required.

The very nature of a sexual battery case speaks of secrecy and isolation from observation by third persons. In those cases where there is no physical evidence available, it would often place an impossible burden upon the state or licensing agency to require corroboration and ignore the credibility of the witnesses so that the proof would be dependent upon the chance or luck of a third person happening upon the incident. Further, it should be noted that the 5th District Court of Appeal, in the related case of Ferris v. Austin, 487 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), did not suggest that there must be corroboration of the victim's testimony and

simply, although erroneously, found, after ignoring the plain language of the Hearing Officer, that the Hearing Officer had not required corroboration of the victim's testimony and had "found insufficient evidence to support the minor's testimony, as opposed to the persuasive effect of the testimony presented on behalf of Ferris." Austin, 487 So.2d at 1166.

Petitioner, on the other hand, asserts that corroboration may be required in administrative disciplinary cases, citing Robinson v. Florida Board of Dentistry, 447 So.2d 930 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984).

In Robinson, sanctions had been imposed against a dentist for alleged substandard treatment of a patient. The only expert testimony offered by the state in proof of its charges was that of the subsequent treating dentist who, at the time of the administrative hearing, had not completed his treatment of the patient, thereby maintaining a financial interest in the outcome of the hearing, and who had extracted the teeth which Dr. Robinson tried to save. Robinson, supra at 932.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the court in Azima v. Department of Professional Regulation, 473 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), recognized the limitations of Robinson and refused to expand the application of Robinson beyond the four corners of that case. In so holding the court stated:

In Robinson, the district court reversed an order which imposed sanctions against a dentist for alleged substandard treatment of a patient.



The expert testimony against Dr. Robinson consisted solely of the opinions of Dr. Beard, the dentist who succeeded Dr. Robinson in treating the patient. The court found that where the successor had an interest in seeing his recommended treatment recognized as "correct" and had a continuing financial interest in the patient, his testimony, without more, could not support a license suspension.

We find that the facts before us differ from those in Robinson in several significant respects. First, four different local physicians testified against the appellant. Thus, their testimony presented a much broader cross-section of the local medical community than was made available in Robinson. Moreover, the "interests" of the testifying physicians here were different from those present in Robinson. Unlike Dr. Beard, these physicians did not recommend totally different courses of treatment but instead testified that Dr. Azima's care was substandard by his failure to perform or have performed certain tests to safeguard his patients' health. Additionally, there was no suggestion that any of the physicians were continuing to treat these patients and, accordingly, there is no showing of continued financial interests in the patients on the part of the witnesses.

Azima, 473 So.2d at 2. The instant case is also distinguishable from Robinson, in that the minor victim's testimony did not involve a standard of care nor did it involve the "interests" discussed in Robinson. Most importantly, however, is the fact that the instant case involved a "one-on-one" situation not observed by third persons as distinguished from the Robinson case where experts could be brought in "after-the-fact" to observe the patient and medical records and render an opinion on the standard of care. Therefore, the Robinson case fails to create any requirement for corroboration of the victim's testimony in administrative sexual battery cases.

The thrust of Petitioner's argument on the aforesaid issue is irrelevant to the instant case because the Court did not attempt to substitute its determination of fact and judgment for that of the Hearing Officer's. Petitioner would have the Court find that the minor victim's testimony lacked the credibility to counter the evidence and testimony offered by Petitioner. The Hearing Officer did not address the credibility of the witnesses; instead, he required corroboration before he would even test the credibility of the testimony of the victim. Therefore, the First District Court of Appeal remanded the case back to the Education Practices Commission for further remand to the Hearing Officer so that he might address the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony under the appropriate standard of proof, with the understanding that corroboration of the minor's testimony was not required.

### III

#### THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF PROOF IN LICENSE DISCIPLINARY CASES IS A "PREPONDERANCE OF EVIDENCE"

The second erroneous application of a provision of law which the First District Court of Appeal correctly cited was the Hearing Officer's conclusion "that the standard of proof, under the circumstances of this case, was greater than a preponderance of the evidence." Ferris, 496 So.2d at 178. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the Hearing Officer's language does not show that Respondent failed to prove its case under any possible standard of proof. The Hearing Officer's Recommended Order provides:

11. Until the court decision in Bowling v. Department of Insurance, 394 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), charges to support the revocation of a license had to be proven by clear and convincing evidence. Walker v. Florida State Board of Optometry, 322 So.2d 612 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975). In a proceeding brought to suspend or revoke a real estate license on charges of dishonest conduct, it was determined that the dishonesty must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. Reid v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 188 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966). There is confusion since the Bowling decision, in that it is not clear whether the clear and convincing standard was adopted, or whether some higher or lesser standard was intended. Nevertheless, Bowling does state that, "in a proceeding under a penal statute for suspension or revocation of a valuable business or professional license, the term competent substantial evidence takes on vigorous implications that are not so clearly present on other occasions for agency action under Chapter 120. When

the proceeding may result in the loss of a valuable business or professional license, the critical matters in issue must be shown by evidence which is indubitably as 'substantial' as the consequences." Bowling, supra, at 172.

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